1978

Chester E. Farrow v. Health Services Corporation,  
A Corporation, Salt Lake Clinic, A Professional  
Corporation, Louis J. Schricker, M.D. And Louis J.  
Moench, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a malpractice action brought by Appellant, Chester E. Farrow, against Health Services Corporation (owner and operator of the LDS Hospital, Salt Lake City, Utah); Salt Lake Clinic, Louis J. Schricker, M.D. and Louis J. Moench, M.D.

Chester E. Farrow entered the LDS Hospital as a patient of Dr. Louis J. Schricker on the 12th day of August, 1974. His initial diagnosis was that of cervical spondylosis. He was operated on for this condition on August 15, 1974. The operation was, evidently, a success. However, on returning from the recovery



room and later while a patient on the neurosurgical floor of the hospital he became confused and disoriented and suffered from hallucinations at times. When the condition persisted, appellant requested psychiatric help from Dr. Schricker. Dr. Schricker arranged for a consultation by Dr. Louis J. Moench. Dr. Moench saw appellant on the evening of August 23, 1974. Subsequent to that visit and during the early morning hours of August 24, 1974, appellant broke the window of his room on the sixth floor of the hospital; jumped through the window and landed on a roof above the first floor entrance of the hospital on the west side. As a result of the fall and injuries sustained by appellant, he was rendered permanently paralyzed and is now quadriplegic.

Appellant claims that the hospital and attending physicians were negligent in his care, treatment and control post-operatively; and that his accident would not have happened had appropriate measures of surveillance and control been taken by those responsible.

Respondents deny any negligence on their part and allege further that appellant's fall and injuries were caused by a suicide attempt.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court granted summary judgment in favor of Dr. Schricker and Health Services Corporation. The issues against Dr. Moench were tried to a jury. From a verdict and judgment for Dr. Moench and from the summary judgments, plaintiff appeals.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgments in favor of defendants and asks for trial on the merits against all defendants.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Chester E. Farrow, the plaintiff, was born December 28, 1924 and resided in Moab, Utah at the time of this accident. He received his education in geology from Okalahoma State University and was working as a consulting geologist in mineral exploration at the time of the accident. His training included work for the U.S.G.S., Bureau of Reclamation, Atomic Energy Commission, and Tidewater Oil Company. He has worked as a consulting geologist all over the western United States, Australia, South America, Central America, Canada and West Africa. Tr. 110-112.

His services were in demand and he earned a substantial income. Tr. 184.

In August, 1974, Farrow suffered an accident involving his 4-wheel drive vehicle. He was taking a sack of flour from the vehicle to his home when he struck his left arm against a mirror bracket on the car. This caused a series of spasms in his arm, through his shoulder and into his neck. This was on a Saturday in August, 1974. Tr. 115-116. He called the local doctor in Moab and received a prescription but the pain continued and on Monday he consulted his family doctor. Tr. 117. About Wednesday the following week he was hospitalized

in Moab, Utah for x-rays. It was suggested by his local doctor that he would require additional treatment and would have to go to Salt Lake City for that purpose. About August 11, 1974, he came to Salt Lake City, stayed overnight in a motel and was admitted to the LDS Hospital by Dr. Louis J. Schricker on August 12, 1974. (Tr. 118)

Prior to any operative procedures being performed upon plaintiff he stated both to Dr. Schricker and the anesthesiologist that he had had a violent reaction to an anesthetic that was given to him in 1949 for an appendectomy. He advised them that as he was coming out of the anesthetic he became violent and it took several people to hold him down. (Tr. 119)

The first procedure performed upon him after he entered the hospital was a myelogram which confirmed the diagnosis of herniated disc at the C5-C6 level. (Page 36 of Hospital Records, Exhibit "D1")

On August 15, 1974, Dr. Schricker performed a laminectomy and discectomy on the cervical spine at the level indicated.

For a day or two following the operation, plaintiff had no knowledge of events that occurred to him or his surroundings. He did have a recollection, however, of a mental impression of bizarre events and happenings that occurred during this period of time that he typified

as being hallucinations. He saw bright lights and people running as if an atomic blast had occurred. He experienced fear for the safety of his wife and daughter. He experienced sexual fantasies and had a mental picture of his home and office being burned down. (Tr. 124) After he became rational, he told Dr. Schricker about these episodes. (Tr. 125)

During the course of his post-operative progress, he first had visual hallucinations and later the hallucinations became auditory in nature. At times he was lucid and completely in control of his faculties and emotions. Then without apparent cause he would begin to hallucinate. He had no control of these matters, hallucinations would simply come and go. (Tr. 125-126)

As time progressed, the hallucinations were auditory rather than visual and consisted of voices in the room (he was in a private room at all times). The voices were accusatory and derogatory to him and he became very fearful about his own future. He did not have insight into what was happening to him. (Tr. 127)

On two occasions during lucid moments he asked Dr. Schricker to change his room. On one occasion he asked Mr. Kent Griffiths (a social worker employed by the hospital) to change his room. He was never moved. (Tr. 127)

The hallucinations continued. At times the sensation was very brief; at other times it would last most of the night. He had a mental impression that he was in a psychiatric observation ward and that the voices were talking about him. He detected that he was able to identify one of the voices, that of Dr. Schricker, the other voices were that of an older man and woman and a person with a Southern accent but he was unable to identify those voices. (Tr. 128-129)

He felt that during his hospital stay the hallucinations began to be less in frequency but a short time before he jumped from the hospital room, the hallucinations had definitely increased in intensity. (Tr.

Mr. Kent Griffiths has been mentioned before. He was assigned to visit with Mr. Farrow because of certain concerns expressed by plaintiff's wife over the fact that a gun that Mr. Farrow had at home had been misplaced and she thought he had taken it with him to the hospital. The fact is he did not have a gun. During his hospital stay Mr. Griffith became a confidant and the only person in the hospital that plaintiff felt at ease with. (Tr. The afternoon before the night this terrible tragedy occurred, Mr. Griffiths had taken plaintiff to the outdoor patio of the hospital and it was one of the only times during his hospital stay that plaintiff had felt any peace (Tr. 139)

By August 23, plaintiff realized that he needed help. He asked Dr. Schricker to get him the best psychiatrist in the City because he wanted someone to straighten him out and provide the proper care. (Tr. 1369)

To add to the confusion and fear that had occurred to this man, the hospital had lost or misplaced his money. Plaintiff customarily carried a fairly large amount of cash for use in his business of acquiring mineral options. When he entered the hospital he had between three and four thousand dollars cash on his person which he turned into the hospital on admittance. He became aware, after the operation, that the hospital could not produce his money and this fact greatly disturbed him. (Tr. 1369 - 1370) The money was eventually found, but not until after he had jumped from the window.

Returning to the events of this day, plaintiff returned to his room after his visit with Mr. Griffith on the hospital patio. On his return the hallucinations again commenced. He had a great deal of anxiety and called his wife at least twice before he was visited by the psychiatrist, Mr. Moench. (Tr. 1374)

He was fearful and suspicious of everyone in the hospital. He did not contact the nurses about his condition because he felt they were spies for the voices that were accusing him and making derogatory remarks about

him. He had the mental impression that the people were going to put him in a mental institution.

Dr. Moench visited with him in his hospital room on the evening of the 23rd. (Tr. 1376)

The visit by Dr. Moench was a question and answer period wherein the plaintiff discussed the fact that he was having marital problems and that he was greatly concerned about the hallucinations that he was experiencing. Plaintiff has no recollection that Dr. Moench gave him any diagnosis of his problem or that he said anything about what plaintiff could expect in the future. He did try to reassure plaintiff. Dr. Moench frightened him by the manner of his questions and plaintiff became very anxious after Dr. Moench left. He called his wife and expressed that anxiety to her. (Tr. 1379)

At the time Dr. Moench left, plaintiff had the mental impression that Dr. Moench was talking to someone in the hall and that he had stated that they would have to transfer plaintiff to a mental institution. (Tr. 1380) Whether this was a hallucination or fact plaintiff could not tell. At the time it occurred, he believed it was true and this created more fear and anxiety.

Some time after eight o'clock as indicated he called his wife. He told her to be sure to call him the next morning by nine-thirty because he felt that some-



thing was going to happen to him, that he might be moved and that he was very much afraid. (Tr. 1380)

The events occurring subsequent to Dr. Moench's visit can best be described by reference to the actual testimony of the plaintiff.

Q Then I want you to discuss with us and tell us in detail everything that happened to you from that point up until the time that you went out the window.

A Well, these audio hallucinations continued in intensity and frequency. I was very much afraid. I would get into bed; I would lie there a few minutes; I would get up, walk back and forth around the room, lie back in bed again trying to rest. I was very anxious. I'd get up and pace again.

There was a large chair in the corner of the room. I would sit in this for awhile. I thought that these people--I heard noises outside the room. The door was closed. I didn't know what was going on. I thought that these people were coming to get me, and I didn't have anything to defend myself with. I felt that I couldn't get out that door and get by them. There was a bathroom which--

Q At that point--

A Yes?

Q Had you reached a mental determination of action on your part?

A All I wanted to do at that point and ever since I had talked with Dr. Moench was to get out of the room. And I attempted to go through the bathroom, which the other room adjoining me had a door which opened out and I went from my side of the bathroom into the other man's room. I heard people talking, heard somebody cough, and I--it scared me--and I came back in through the bathroom into the room which I was in. I made no further attempt to try to get out through the doorway. I didn't know what to do. I kept going back and forth to bed, getting up and walking around, sitting in the chair, very much afraid, trying to figure out what I could do.

These hallucinations were increasing. I had reached a point where I was not sure what I was doing.

Q Did you know where you were?

A Not all the time, I didn't. Part of the time I thought that I was back in the hospital in Moab.

Q How many stories does that hospital have?

A It's only one floor.

Q Continue.

A Anyway, this kept going on and on. And I

don't recall anyone coming into the room after Dr. Moench left. If they did, I have no recollection of it whatsoever.

Eventually, the whole thing just got the best of me. I took the chair and I broke out the left window of the room which I was in--it was a plate glass window--I broke it clean so that--

Q Where did you think you were then?

A I thought that I was on the ground floor and that I could just jump out of the window and run. And that's what I did. I took and broke the window clean so that I would not cut myself. There were no jagged edges, as I remember, and the only cut that I received from the glass was a small scar right there. That's the only place.

Q Pointing to your left hand?

A No, it's the right hand.

Q Excuse me, the right hand?

A It's right there. And that's the only cut that I received from the glass.

I stepped back from the window after I had broken it out, and I saw a place--and I would guess less than about 15 seconds, I stepped back from the window I would say about two paces, and I ran and jumped as if

were to be hurdling the windowsill. And it's possible to do that. I actually put my foot on the windowsill when I went down. And as soon as I went out the window, I knew that--what had happened.

Q As soon as you left the room, is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q What did you think right at that moment?

A I just said, "Oh, my God."

MR. SNOW: Object to that as self-serving.

THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

A I said, "Oh, my God." And I was falling face down. And then I rolled over on my back, and I landed on my left shoulder and my head on the top of the covering of the--it's a walkway, I guess, to the entrance of the hospital. (Tr. 1381, line 13 - 1383, line 28)

---

Exhibit 3P is a photograph of the west side of the LDS Hospital. At the time of the accident, Far was in a sixth-floor private room. He jumped from the window marked with a circle and landed on a roof covering the first floor entrance to the hospital. The position of his body is marked with a circle and his name is written to the side. He did not lose consciousness as a result of the fall. He tried to move both his arms and legs but realized immediately that he was paralyzed.

was in extreme pain. Dr. Schricker arrived and climbed onto the roof while Farrow lay there. He said "Chester, why in the hell did you do it?" Farrow replied that he did not know. (Tr. 1385-1386)

Eventually he was removed from the roof by fireman and taken inside the hospital for treatment. He remained in the hospital from his admittance in August to December 3, 1974. (Exhibit P1) As a result of the fall he sustained a fractured dislocation of cervical disc C-5, C-6 and C-7 resulting in severe damage to the spinal column, resulting in paralysis. He has had numerous operations and surgical procedures performed upon him, both at LDS Hospital and later at the VA Hospital in Long Beach, California. He is quadreplegic and his paralysis is permanent.

---

For a complete understanding of this case, and the reasons why this medical tragedy occurred and why it could have been prevented, one must carefully analyze Farrow's medical record at the LDS Hospital and the testimony of the doctors and nurses and other hospital personnel who had contact with the plaintiff. It is the interaction or rather the lack of interaction between these people that caused this accident. Each of those involved either

failed to carry out their duties or did so in a superficial and negligent manner.

The following factual survey will deal with the facts contained in the hospital record and the testimony of the personnel as these events unfold.

Examining the hospital records, the Court is asked to note that each sheet bears a penciled number usually in the lower right-hand corner. The hospital practice when a patient is discharged from the hospital is to send the hospital record to the records librarian. At that time a clerk numbers each page serially. The sheets in this record that are not numbered are "physician order sheets for August 15, 1974 through August 24, 1974" involving three separate sheets. These are now located between numbered sheets 48 and 49. The unnumbered sheets were missing from the first copies of hospital records obtained by plaintiff's attorneys but were later obtained from counsel for the hospital. No explanation has been offered as to why these sheets are unnumbered or why they were not with the other records for some period of time.

The first indication given to the defendants in this case that there might be a potential problem was when plaintiff entered the hospital and advised Dr. Schricker and the anesthesiologist of the bad reaction he had had years earlier from anesthetic given during

an appendectomy. This is noted on page 85 of the Record made by Dr. Lee Learned the anesthesiologist. The conversation was vaguely recalled by Dr. Schricker. (Tr. 1314) Clearly the doctors were put on notice of a potential problem.

After the operation a problem did develop. Plaintiff became confused, disoriented and depressed. This is reflected in the hospital records and particularly those notations made in the progress notes and the bedside clinical sheets signed by the nurses. We take this from the 16th of August, 1974 which was the day Farrow was taken from the intensive care unit to a private room on the neurosurgical floor.

AUGUST 16, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Transfer out of ICU when bed is available. Doing well. Maybe sl. confusion (signed) Schricker.

NURSES NOTE - BEDSIDE CLINICAL

8:30 p.m. Resting quietly  
10:30 Resting quietly.

AUGUST 17, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Some confusion this evening. Neck is "good". Some fullness but not unexpected. Good spirits. (signed) Schricker.

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 a.m. Alert and oriented. Further note, has difficulty turning c/o discomfort in arms when on side. States wife and six-year old

August 17, 1974  
Continued

BEDSIDE CLINICAL (Conti

daughter were here at  
Refused breakfast at fi  
stated he was going to  
(operating room) alert  
oriented.

AUGUST 18, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Quite confused during the night and is not oriented fully. Wife told nurse during the night that this is not unusual for him that it had been going on for several months. Calmed down a bit at present.  
(signed) Schricker.

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

4:00 a.m. Resting quiet in bed.

7:00 to 3:00 Eating & agitated at times, rest quietly at other times.

4:00 p.m. Walked in h and complains of left a being numb and tingly, pain in shoulders, grip Confused at times.

AUGUST 19, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Still remains moderately confused but less combative. Left arm feels good except for some numbness in left index finger. (signed) Schricker

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 a.m. Appears to asleep.

4:00 to 6:00 Asleep most of Noc.

7:40 Alert, awake

8:30 c/o pain TL noti

10:00 Resting

11:30 Resting TL notif patients request for mu relaxant

1:00 Resting, having pain, talking on phone



August 19, 1974  
Continued

BEDSIDE CLINICAL (Continued)

4:00 Chilly - asked for  
pain med.  
6:00 Nauseated  
6:45 Up to BR  
8:00 Asked for milk  
9:00 Cooperative  
10:00 Had a carton of milk  
No special problems

AUGUST 20, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Much more oriented today and wondering what has gone on the past few days. Is concerned about his wife. Neck is soft and pliable. Good progress. (signed) Schricker

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 to 1:00 a.m. Appears to be asleep  
2:00 Awake c/o that he can't sleep  
4:00 Appears to be asleep  
6:00 A fairly restful night frequently stirring.  
8:00 Complaint of losing watch. Would like to get envelope from downstairs. c/o bad headache. Seems to be feeling better. Visiting.  
4:00 p.m. Appears depressed.

AUGUST 21, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Doing better today. Daughter and wife are here and he is very happy today. (signed) Schricker

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 a.m. Appears to be asleep.  
4:00 Appears to be asleep.  
7:00 Resting  
10:00 Family in to visit.

August 21, 1974  
Continued

PROGRESS NOTE (Continued)

Dr. Schricker! Can we consider a psych consult on this pt? (signed) Kent Griffith

Yes! (writing of Dr. Schricker)

BEDSIDE CLINICAL (Continued)

12:00 p.m. Appears comfortable. Sleeping.

8:00 Up ad lib. Seems oriented and quiet. No complaints.

AUGUST 22, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Much clearer! Doing well ambulating. (signed) Schricker

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 a.m. Asleep at long intervals during noc.

7:00 - 8:00 Awake, no complaints. Awaiting wife and friend.

12:00 p.m. Patient very cooperative.

3:00 A quiet day.

4:00 Up ad lib. in room and in hall. No complaints.

8:00 Made ready for the night.

AUGUST 23, 1974

PROGRESS NOTE

Has asked for psychiatric help today for the first time. Neurologically he is doing quite well. (signed) Schricker

BEDSIDE CLINICAL

12:00 a.m. Appears to be asleep.

4:00 - 6:00 Asleep most of the night.

8:00 Patient claims that does not feel well.

August 23, 1974  
Continued

PROGRESS NOTE (Continued)

Dr. Moench contacted and will see patient this evening. He is clear and well oriented, seems happier today. (signed) Schricker.

BEDSIDE CLINICAL (Continued)

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