1978

Chester E. Farrow v. Health Services Corporation,
A Corporation, Salt Lake Clinic, A Professional
Corporation, Louis J. Schricker, M.D. And Louis J.
Moench, M.D. : Brief of Respondents Salt Lake
Clinic And Louis G. Moench

Utah Supreme Court

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

In addition to the preceding reasons for rejecting Appellant's claimed error, there exists one further ground against Appellant, i.e., the objections to Instructions 19 and 20 were

not made timely. The parties stipulated that objections to the jury instructions could be made after the jury retired. (Tr., p. 1948). The jury began its deliberations at 1:00 p.m. and Defendants presented their objections to the instructions at that time. (Tr., pp. 2010-2023). At 3:30 p.m. the jury returned with its verdict. (Tr., p. 2024). Plaintiff's exceptions were given after the rendering of the verdict and after the jury's discharge. (Tr., pp. 2025-2027).

This Court has repeatedly held that Rule 51, U.R.C.P. requires timely objections be made to jury instructions in order to allow the trial court an opportunity to cure any error. Johnson v. Simons, 551 P.2d 515 (Utah 1976); Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621 (Utah 1977); Hanson v. General Builders Supply Co., 389 P.2d 61 (Utah 1964). Certainly, objections made after the jury has been discharged cannot be considered timely.

For these reasons, the trial court was correct in submitting Instructions 19 and 20 to the jury.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR AS TO THE TESTIMONY OF DR. SIDNEY WALKER OR AS TO THE GIVING OF INSTRUCTION NO. 11.

A. Dr. Walker's Testimony.

1. The Plaintiff has Waived Any Claimed Error Regarding Dr. Walker's Testimony by Omitting it From the Transcript Record.

Appellant in his brief recites that Dr. Sidney Walker, a

specialist in neuro-psychiatry, examined Plaintiff's records and reviewed various depositions before testifying at his own deposition taken on July 27, 1976. Plaintiff then asserts that even though Dr. Walker in his deposition testified that the various defendants failed to properly care for the plaintiff, the trial judge incorrectly refused to allow this opinion to be admitted into evidence. The reason for this omission, according to the plaintiff, is that the doctor had never practiced medicine in Utah and therefore was incompetent to testify as to the medical standard of care in this state. (Appellant's brief, pp. 49-50).

There is nothing in the transcript of the trial evidencing Plaintiff's contentions and, the fact is, many portions of Dr. Walker's deposition were read to the jury and were not omitted by the trial court.

The transcript offers no assistance to this Court as to what specific portions of Dr. Walker's testimony was omitted by the trial court. The transcript states on page 1558, "The testimony of Dr. Sidney Walker was read into the record. During a reading of the deposition counsel argued their respective positions". A reference is then made on page 1559 that an objection to the deposition starting on page 26 was overruled by the trial court. It is then noted that the deposition was continued to be read until 2:00 that afternoon. (Tr., p. 1559). Finally, the

record notes that counsel concluded the reading of Dr. Walker's deposition. (Tr., p. 1556).

The "Designation of Record on Appeal" filed by Plaintiff specifically excluded the testimony of Dr. Walker. (R., p. 519). All depositions in the court file were designated and this request necessarily included the deposition of Dr. Walker, (R., pp. 677-814). However, how this deposition was used at trial and the specific objections made by Defendants' counsel is absent from the record.

The failure of Plaintiff to include the actual reading of the deposition and the rulings of the trial court precludes Plaintiff from now claiming error as to alleged omissions of testimony. Several courts in other jurisdictions have dealt with similar problems.

In Grover v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company, 207 S.E.2d 584 (Ct. App. Ga. 1974) the following statement was made:

Plaintiff asserts the trial court erred in excluding from the evidence portions of Dr. Lawrence Lee Freeman's depositions testimony. A reading of the trial transcript beginning at page 117 indicates that the deposition was not introduced as such but was read before the jury. At those portions which Appellant contends were erroneously excluded the transcript shows that objections were made by defense counsel. Instead of reading those portions into the trial record and obtaining a ruling by the judge thereon, the portions were omitted. Thus we are unable to pass upon the assertion. Our "decision must be made on the record

sent to this court by the clerk of the court below and not upon the briefs of counsel". Jenkins v. Board of Zoning, Etc., 122 Ga. App. 412, 413, 177 S.E.2d 204, 206. Id. at 586.

Similarly, the Missouri Court of Appeals in Williamson v. Epperson, 529 S.W.2d 25 (Ct. App. Mo. 1975) made the following pertinent observations:

Further and more important, the plaintiffs have come to this court on a record wholly insufficient for us to adjudicate the merits of their claim. They argue specifically they were denied the opportunity to read certain questions and answers from a deposition, but the deposition is not preserved in the record, except for those parts which were actually offered and received. Since the deposition was not copied into the record, then made a part of the record here in any manner, we cannot pass on the admissibility of the parts of the deposition plaintiffs sought to offer. Id. at 29. (Emphasis added).

The Maryland Court of Special Appeals in Sun Cab Company v. Walston, 289 A.2d 804 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1972) stated the following:

Appellants proffered to read into evidence some 13 lines from a pre-trial deposition of Richard B. Walston. The court, "after hearing discussion from counsel and reading the case offered" denied that request. The record does not contain the discussion, nor the deposition. We have no way of knowing what was proffered, nor the reasons advanced for and against its admission. There is nothing we can rule upon. Id. at 822. (Emphasis added).

See also Paulin v. Paulin, 102 P.2d 809 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1940);

Friesen v. Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad, 524 P.2d 1141 (Kan. 1974).

The obvious principle behind these decisions is that a reviewing court cannot tell whether prejudice has occurred by the omission of testimony unless the specific testimony omitted and the objections made are before the reviewing court. In this case the entire deposition of Dr. Walker was before the court and only portions of the testimony were objected to by Defendants. It is impossible to tell from the present record what that testimony was and whether it constituted an "opinion" of Dr. Walker or consisted of other material. In addition, it is impossible to know what the grounds for the exclusion was and if, indeed, all exclusions related solely to the medical standard of care in Utah.

For this reason alone, Plaintiff's contention that the court erred in omitting portions of Dr. Walker's testimony cannot be substantiated by this Court and must therefore be rejected.

2. In Any Event, the Testimony of Dr. Walker Was Cumulative and Inferior to That of Plaintiff's Other Expert, Dr. Branch and Any Omission Was Therefore Harmless.

It is important to note that this is not a case where Plaintiff was denied expert witness testimony for failure to meet a standard. First, as previously noted, a large portion of Dr. Walker's testimony was read to the jury. Second, and mo

importantly, the testimony of Dr. Hardin Branch was read to the jury in its entirety with no omissions or deletions. (Tr., p. 1569). The testimony of Dr. Branch in and of itself was sufficient to establish Plaintiff's theory of a standard and created a jury question.

The deposition of Dr. Branch was taken on two separate occasions: first on August 4, 1977 (R., pp. 853-927); and again on September 3, 1977 (R., pp. 1095-1155).

There is no doubt that Dr. Branch was eminently qualified to testify both in his expertise as a psychiatrist and as to his experience in Utah. He obtained his M.D. degree in 1935 and subsequently worked in Pennsylvania. From 1948 until 1970 he was Chairman of the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Utah Medical Center. (R., pp. 861-862). The doctor was familiar with Utah health care facilities (R., pp. 863-864), supervised residents who trained in the various hospitals including the L.D.S. Hospital (R., p. 916), and attended various conventions and conferences in Utah since 1970. (R., p. 917). Dr. Branch was the supervisor at various times of Dr. Eugene Bliss and Dr. Lincoln Clark who testified on behalf of the Defendants. In fact, Dr. Moench himself was also a member of the department which Dr. Branch headed. (R., p. 889).

Defendants' expert witness, Dr. Lincoln Clark, stated that Dr. Branch had hired him at the time he joined the University of

Utah faculty and that he considered Dr. Branch to be a nationally-recognized competent psychiatrist. (Tr., pp. 1815-1816). Dr. Eugene Bliss, Defendants' second expert witness, also acknowledged Dr. Branch as a very competent psychiatrist who had international recognition. (Tr., p. 1844).

In fact, the only question as to the competency of any expert witness was made by Dr. Branch concerning the qualifications of Dr. Walker--Plaintiff's expert witness whose testimony is claimed to have been so critical. Dr. Branch stated that there is no such thing as a "neuro-psychiatrist" since doctors are either certified in psychiatry or in neurology. (R., pp. 881-882).

Dr. Branch was qualified as an expert witness under either the "local community" standard or any other standard and the trial court allowed his testimony to be read to the jury. Without elaborating as to the essence of Dr. Branch's testimony it suffices to say that it was sufficient to challenge the actions of Defendants as to the proper psychiatric standard. Dr. Branch's testimony is well summarized in the argument of counsel during Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict. (Tr., pp. 1624-1643; see e.g. Tr., pp. 1624-1626; 1641-1643).

The reliance upon Dr. Branch as establishing a standard is further shown in the closing argument to the jury by Mr. Garrett:

Now, let me try and put a little more on that. First of all, Dr. Branch testified in this case for the plaintiff, and he testified concerning the standard of care--in other words, what must you do if you are to avoid being at fault with a patient? That is what, in effect, he is saying. And he had an opinion to render, and I bring it to you for your assistance at arriving at a verdict in this case.

This was a question by Mr. Roberts: And doctor do you have an opinion as to whether or not Dr. Moench used the care and diligence ordinarily exercised by psychiatrists in the vicinity of Salt Lake City in caring for this patient to whom he had been called in for a psychiatric consultation? Do you have such an opinion?

Answer: Yes, sir, I do.

Question: And what is that opinion?

Answer: I think that ordinary care would have required the placing of this patient in a more protected situation either in his own room or in a psychiatric unit.

* * *

There are other things in his testimony, as you will recall. He amplified on that. He said he didn't sufficiently impress the nurses with the urgency of the situation. (Tr., pp. 1956-1957). (Emphasis added).

Thus, the testimony of Dr. Branch sufficiently presented Plaintiff's theory of the standard which Defendants allegedly failed to maintain. Dr. Branch was eminently more qualified to testify than was Dr. Walker. It is therefore difficult to believe that Dr. Walker's testimony would have had any effect upon the jury's consideration.

As stated by the Supreme Court of Kansas, "Error may not be predicated upon the exclusion of evidence which is merely cumulative and does not add materially to the weight or clarity of that already received." Friesen v. Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad, 524 P.2d 1141, 1149 (Kan. 1974). See also Watkins v. Utah Poultry and Farmer's Cooperative, 251 P.2d 663 (Utah 1952).

In summary, the Plaintiff has waived any claim of error committed as to the exclusion of Dr. Walker's testimony. But even if such an error were not waived, Plaintiff has made no showing that the alleged omitted testimony would have had any substantial effect upon the outcome of this case in light of the testimony of Dr. Branch--a man acknowledged by Defendants' own medical witnesses to be an internationally recognized expert in psychiatry.

B. Instruction No. 11.

1. Plaintiff Himself Proffered Two Instructions Containing the "Local Community" Standard and Cannot Now Claim Error.

Appellant complains that the eleventh instruction the court read to the jury, speaking in terms of "accepted standards of psychiatric care in this community", was erroneous because it applied the "locality rule". (Appellant's brief, 50). Appellant then proceeds to attack the existence of the locality rule and argues that a more liberal standard should

be adopted. (Appellant's brief, pp. 51-58). Of course, this Court has in fact adopted the more liberal "similar community" standard argued by Appellant in its recent decision of Swan v. Lamb, Case No. 14823. Admittedly, Instruction No. 11 utilized the existing standard of the "local community". (R., p. 475).

Unlike the plaintiff in the Swan case, however, Appellant proffered instructions to the court containing the local standard. One proposed instruction of Plaintiff stated:

You are instructed that if you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant Louis G. Moench, in treating Plaintiff, failed to exercise the care and diligence ordinarily exercised by a psychiatrist in Salt Lake City, Utah, then you are instructed that the said Louis G. Moench was negligent. (R., p. 457). (Emphasis added).

Plaintiff's second instruction stated:

And if you find further from a preponderance of the evidence that such conduct in one or more of the foregoing ways constituted a failure on the part of the said defendant to exercise the care and diligence ordinarily exercised by psychiatrists in Salt Lake City, Utah, then you are instructed that said Louis G. Moench was negligent. (R., p. 458). (Emphasis added).

Both of these instructions were given by the trial court as Nos. 12 and 13. (R., pp. 476-477).

Thus, it is difficult to imagine how Plaintiff can complain about the giving of Instruction No. 11 when it is basically no different than Instructions Nos. 12 and 13 which were proposed

by Plaintiff and adopted by the trial court. Plaintiff has thus waived any claim of an erroneous standard being given by the fact that he compounded the error.

2. The Similar Community Standard Was In Fact Given by the Trial Court in Instruction No. 10.

Defendant Moench proffered an Instruction No. 5 which included the similar community standard. (R., p. 405). Plaintiff proffered a similar instruction including this standard. (R., p. 456).

The court combined both of these proffered instructions and gave them as Instruction No. 10. It stated the following:

In performing professional services for a patient, a physician or surgeon has the duty to have that degree of learning and skill ordinarily possessed by physicians and surgeons of good standing, practicing in the same or a similar locality and under similar circumstances.

It is his further duty to use the care and skill ordinarily exercised in like cases by reputable members of his profession practicing in the same or a similar locality under similar circumstances, and to use reasonable diligence and his best judgment in the exercise of his skill and the application of his learning, in an effort to accomplish the purpose for which he is employed.

In determining whether Dr. Moench properly fulfilled the duties imposed upon him as a psychiatrist, you are not permitted to set up a standard of your own, but must look to the testimony and evidence presented by physicians at the trial as to what the standard of care was at the time in question. (R., p. 474). (Emphasis added).

Thus, Instruction No. 10 was extremely specific as to the standard of care and actually utilized the "similar community" standard even though it was not required by Utah law at that time. For purposes of determining propriety of jury instructions the instructions should all be considered together. Whyte v. Christensen, 550 P.2d 1289, (Utah 1976).

The Tenth jury instruction specifically spoke in terms of the medical standard to be applied and utilized the "similar community standard". The Eleventh, Twelfth, and Thirteenth instructions only incidentally referred to a standard and any erroneous standard was included in two instructions offered by Plaintiff himself.

For this reason, any misstatement of the standard in the Eleventh, Twelfth, and Thirteenth instructions was harmless even if it were assumed that the similar community standard was applicable prior to the Swan decision.

Finally, as discussed supra Plaintiff failed to make a timely objection as to Instruction No. 11 and has therefore waived any claimed error. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621 (Utah 1977).

C. The Local Community Standard was a Correct Statement of the Law in Utah at the Time of the Incident and at the Time of Trial and any Change in such Standard Should Not be Applied Retroactively to Incidents or Trials Predating the Swan Decision.

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